### WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT NO. 89637-2

Court of Appeals No. 68550-3-I

DEBRA PUGH, AARON BOWMAN, and FLOANN BAUTISTA, on behalf of themselves and all persons similarly situated

Respondents,

v.

# EVERGREEN HOSPITAL MEDICAL CENTER a/k/a KING COUNTY PUBLIC HOSPITAL DISTRICT NO. 2

Appellants

WASHINGTON STATE NURSES ASSOCIATION,

Appellant/Intervenor.

### PETITION FOR REVIEW



David E. Breskin, WSBA No. 10704 Daniel F. Johnson, WSBA No. 27848 BRESKIN JOHNSON & TOWNSEND PLLC 1111 Third Avenue, Suite 2230 Seattle, Washington 98101 Phone: (206) 652-8660

Fax: (206) 652-8290

Attorneys for Respondents

###

### I. INTRODUCTION

This petition is a companion to the petition filed in Court of Appeals No. 68651-8-I, seeking review of a companion decision of the same court in relation to the same case. As summarized in the petition in no. 68651, Petitioners Debra Pugh, Aaron Bowman, and FloAnn Bautista, on behalf of themselves and approximately 1,300 similarly situated nurses ("the Nurses") currently and formerly employed by Evergreen Hospital Medical Center ("Evergreen") sued Evergreen for denying them regular meal and rest breaks in violation of the Washington Industrial Welfare Act. In a separate lawsuit, the Washington State Nurses Association ("WSNA") brought a similar lawsuit against Evergreen for denying its members rest breaks under state law.

Without informing the Nurses, WSNA and Evergreen reached a settlement which called for Evergreen to pay the Nurses a fraction of what was admittedly owed in exchange for complete releases. The Nurses moved to intervene in the union's case in order to challenge WSNA's standing to settle their claims and to protect their right to full recovery of the wages due to them. Initially, WSNA and Evergreen requested court approval of the settlement, but then reconsidered and simply dismissed the union's case. The trial court struck the Nurses' motion to intervene and did not consider their challenge to WSNA's standing.

Pursuant to the settlement, Evergreen sent the Nurses "settlement checks," and both WSNA and Evergreen sent the nurses letters encouraging them to accept the checks, misrepresenting the terms of the

settlement, and omitting material information about this class action.

WSNA intervened in the Nurses' case. It sided with Evergreen and tried to block the Nurses' case. The Nurses moved for class certification and for a summary judgment that WSNA had lacked standing to bring its lawsuit for monetary damages on behalf of its members for missed rest break. The Nurses also argued that, if WSNA had standing to settle its members' monetary claims, it should have sought approval of its settlement. The trial court agreed on both counts, certified the class and held the settlement checks sent pursuant to the WSNA settlement did not bar the Nurses from seeking additional relief in this case.

In separate appeals, WSNA and Evergreen both obtained discretionary review. In two published decisions issued October 28, 2013, the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's summary judgment in favor of the Nurses. It held that WSNA had standing to sue for damages for its members, that court supervision and review was not required to afford absent nurses due process or protect their rights to compensation for missed rest breaks and that the checks issued to the Nurses pursuant to the settlement could be used by Evergreen to support affirmative defenses that would potentially bar the rest break claims of most nurses in the case.

This Court should take review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Court of Appeals' decision is contrary to the well-established rule that a union cannot represent its members in claims for damages except where those damages are easily calculable from available, objective information. *International Association of Firefighters, Local 1789 v. Spokane Airports*,

146 Wn.2d 207, 45 P.2d 186 (2002). The Court of Appeals decision, if allowed to stand, would turn a very narrow exception in the rules of associational standing into a gaping one. This Court should also take review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4) because the Court of Appeals' decision involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court and involves a question of law under the due process clause of the Washington State Constitution.<sup>1</sup>

#### II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

As explained in the Nurses' petition in No. 68651-8-I, the Court of Appeals erred in finding WSNA had standing to represent the Nurses on their damages claims under the state's Wage Statute because this case does not fall within the narrow exception to the rule against such representational standing. If the Court of Appeals were correct on that issue, however, then court approval of the settlement agreement should be required in order to protect the due process rights of putative class members to receive notice and the opportunity to be heard, and to ensure that settlement was fair, adequate, and reasonable and not the product of collusion between the parties

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Because the Court of Appeals declined to consolidate WSNA's and Evergreen's appeals and issued separate decisions, the Nurses are filing two petitions with this Court, corresponding with the issues resolved in the two opinions below. In their petition for review of the other decision, No. 68651-8-I, the Nurses demonstrate that the Court of Appeals misunderstood and misapplied this Court's precedent on associational standing. Here, the Petitioners argue in the alternative that, if WSNA *did* have standing to bring the Nurses' claims for damages, then this Court should hold that such settlements should be treated like any other representative action, requiring court review and approval and court-supervised notice to the absent parties with an opportunity to be heard.

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# A. Two Lawsuits Were Filed on Behalf of Nurses Denied Rest Breaks, One by Nurses and Another by Their Union.

In September 2010, Debra Pugh and Aaron Bowman filed this action on their behalf and 1,300 other nurses who worked for Evergreen Hospital and were denied their 10-minute rest breaks and 30-minute meal breaks required by the Washington Industrial Welfare Act, RCW 49.48 et seq. CP 1-5. Two days earlier, WSNA had filed a similar suit seeking damages for the nurses for missed 10 minute rest breaks.<sup>2</sup> CP 607-612. In its complaint, WSNA claimed it had associational standing to sue Evergreen for monetary damages for its members. CP 609.

### B. Without Informing the Nurses, WSNA Quickly Settled.

As evidenced by Evergreen's Answer to WSNA's complaint, the issue of whether WSNA had standing to bring a claim for damages on behalf of the Nurses was immediately in dispute. CP 492 (Affirmative Defense No. 6). The Nurses attempted to cooperate with WSNA on prosecuting the overlapping rest break claims, but were rebuffed. CP 619-621. On February 4, 2011, the Nurses moved to intervene in WSNA's case to challenge WSNA's standing to sue for damages on their behalf and to protect their interests in getting full back pay damages for missed breaks. CP 613-25. But before the court could rule on the Nurses' motion

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Unlike the nurses' lawsuit, WSNA chose not to bring any *meal* break claim for the Nurses. CP 447-451. Additionally, despite the collective bargaining agreement (CBA) between WSNA and Evergreen, which provided nurses with more generous rest breaks than state law and gave WSNA the right to arbitrate Evergreen's failure to provide them, WSNA chose not to take any action under the CBA. CP 627 665; 667-701.

or decide the issue of standing, on February 10, 2011, WSNA and Evergreen entered into a settlement agreement. CP 477-484. WSNA settled the rest break claims of 1,300 nurses for \$375,000. CP 479-480.

On February 18, 2011, WSNA and Evergreen filed a "joint motion" for court approval of their settlement. CP 510-522. The trial court set a March 18 hearing date on the motion and a briefing schedule. CP 487-488. By its terms, the scheduling order provided a date upon which the Nurses could object to the settlement and challenge WSNA's standing to sue on their behalves for monetary damages—an issue that was raised by the Nurses in their motion to intervene. *Id.*; CP 621-622. The deadline for filing objections was set for March 9, 2011. CP 487-488.

On March 2, 2011, the Nurses took the deposition of Evergreen through its CR 30(b)(6) representative, Kathleen Groen. CP 585. At the deposition, Evergreen admitted that it calculated that it owed the nurses \$600,000 in back pay, almost twice what it would be paying them under the WSNA settlement.<sup>4</sup> CP 598-601. Evergreen also admitted it had no evidence to dispute the declarations of nurses saying they regularly missed breaks to varying degrees. CP 586-605. Most significantly, though, Evergreen also admitted that it had no records showing when nurses missed breaks or the amount of back pay owed. CP 586-590.<sup>5</sup> All parties

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This number represents approximately 5%-10% of the wages that Evergreen likely owes to nurses for breaks missed since September 2007. CP 448-449.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> WSNA took \$58,000 from the \$375,000 settlement to pay its attorneys, leaving \$317,000 to pay to the Nurses. CP 345.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See also CP 741-47 (answers to Admission that Evergreen had no documents showing how many rest breaks were missed, when, and by whom).

were aware that these admissions would be fatal to WSNA's claim that it had associational standing to seek damages on behalf of its members, because the Nurses had briefed the issue in their Motion to Intervene that was set for oral argument three days later, on March 5, 2011. CP 613-624.

On March 4, 2011, a day before the hearing on the Nurses' Motion to Intervene, Evergreen and WSNA suddenly reversed course and filed a stipulation to dismiss WSNA's lawsuit immediately. The trial court ordered dismissal and struck all scheduled hearings on the issues of standing, intervention, and settlement approval.

At this point in their own case, the Nurses' counsel had been unable to contact the nearly 1,300 putative class members because Evergreen refused to provide contact information for them. On learning that WSNA and Evergreen dismissed the other lawsuit by stipulation, the Nurses immediately moved to compel discovery of class member contact information so they could alert putative class members of their rights. CP 1379-1381. The court granted the motion on March 10, 2011. *Id.* Under the terms of the order, however, Evergreen did not provide class member contact information until March 28, 2011. CP 1488-1490; 1491-1493.

By that time, Evergreen had already sent "settlement checks" to the Nurses. CP 499-501 (letter dated March 17, 2011). The checks were received with a cover letter from Evergreen *before* letters could be sent by the Nurses' counsel and received by nurses that would have put in context the checks and Evergreen's letter and would have provided the nurses with essential information for evaluating Evergreen's statements. *See*, Decl. of

Batista, CP 755 at ¶12 ("Had I received the (letter) from (the Nurses' counsel) before I cashed the check, I would not have cashed it.") <sup>6</sup>

On the rear of the check sent to the nurses pursuant to the WSNA settlement, Evergreen included a release of the Nurses' rest break claims, which would be executed by endorsement. CP 787. Neither the employer's process for obtaining the release by endorsement nor the release itself had been reviewed or approved by any court. Nor had Evergreen's letter that accompanied the check been reviewed or approved. The letter contained misleading and incomplete information about the settlement and pending class action. CP 499-500. For example, it stated:

- That Evergreen "disagreed with (the) allegation (it) failed to pay registered nurses for rest breaks." CP 449 at ¶1. In fact, Evergreen admitted in deposition that it had calculated that it owed nurses \$600,000 in back pay for missed rest breaks before settling with WSNA.
- That "we are actually paying somewhat more than (\$375,000) as we decided that the minimum check to each RN should be at least \$10 before taxes." In fact, the settlement was based on the express agreement that the minimum payment would be \$300 to each RN. CP 472.
- That "if you do not (return the check within 60 days), you will be deemed to have accepted the Settlement Agreement." In fact, a failure to return the check would not be "deemed" acceptance or a waiver of rights

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The Court of Appeals appears to have been under a misimpression that the nurses received the letter from the Nurses' counsel before cashing the checks and not after. The record evidence was that the Evergreen's refusal to provide discovery prevented that.

under Washington law and placing the burden on the nurse to return the check or "be deemed" to have accepted the settlement is coercive.

Many nurses testified that they felt misled and coerced by their employer's letter to them and like Plaintiff Batista would not have cashed their checks had they received the letter from the Nurses' counsel first.<sup>7</sup>

Compounding the effect of the employer's letter on the nurses was WSNA's statements to them. For example, WSNA sent a post card to the nurses heralding its agreement as a "LANDMARK SETTLEMENT OVER NURSE REST BREAKS" and that it would ensure that "(nurses) are appropriately staff." CP 475 at ¶2 (capitalization in original). In fact, WSNA admitted in deposition through its 30(b)(6) representative that:

- The settlement required no more than what Evergreen was already required to do by law. CP 462.
- The settlement did not increase staffing or provide for adequate staffing and nothing in the agreement addressed staffing. CP 461.

WSNA's communications also failed to provide critical information:

- That the settlement was supposed to ensure a minimum payment of \$300 to each nurse but in fact, after the settlement was reached, WSNA reduced the minimum payment to only \$10. CP 499.
  - That obtaining full back pay was not WSNA's interest. CP 459.
  - That WSNA did nothing to calculate the back pay owed. CP 459.8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See, Declarations from Laurine Morgan CP 774-776; Jill Horn CP 768-770; Jessyamma Adimathra CP 764-767; Ping Nip CP 791-794; Nancy Olson CP 788-790; Robbie Herring CP 795-798.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> At the same time, though WSNA's attorneys had in fact calculated that over \$1 million in back pay was owed. These same WSNA attorneys were being fully paid the over

None of the communications to the nurses by WSNA or Evergreen had not been reviewed or approved by any court to ensure that the information provided was full, complete and accurate. Furthermore, WSNA was forbidden under the terms of its settlement agreement to "directly or indirectly . . . promote or encourage . . . suits, causes of action or claims relating to obtaining back pay for missed rest breaks for the Represented Employees." CP 835. WSNA also agreed to *indemnify* Evergreen for the Nurses' claims against Evergreen for missed rest breaks. CP 834.

A large number of the Nurses endorsed the checks and cashed them. CP 1295. The nurses did so *before* it was possible for class counsel in this case to provide them with any information about the inadequacies of the monetary settlement, WSNA's lack of standing to bring a damages lawsuit on their behalves, and their rights as putative class members in this pending class action. CP 112-113 (letter dated April 4, 2011).<sup>9</sup>

<sup>\$50,000</sup> owed by WSNA to them out of the \$375,000 settlement amount that was denominated as back pay compensation under the agreement and was supposed to go to the nurses See, Declaration of Nurses' Counsel, David Breskin, CP 448 at ¶ 6. These facts about how the settlement proceeds for missed rest breaks were to be distributed were not disclosed in the information WSNA gave nurses prior to them receiving their checks. See, e.g., CP 475.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> In addition to the checks sent pursuant to the settlement agreement, Evergreen sent a second batch of checks to a small number of nurses (69 of them) purportedly paying them for missed <u>meal</u> breaks that were recorded as missed, but had not been paid. CP 120, 172. These checks, which did not include payment for meal breaks that were late, interrupted, or not reported as missed, also included a waiver on the rear of the check. <u>Id.</u> The enforceability of these <u>meal</u> break checks was not an issue raised in Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment or otherwise considered or resolved by the trial court in its order. CP 1334-1335. Accordingly, whether these <u>meal</u> break checks/waivers are enforceable is not an issue in this appeal.

# C. WSNA Intervened in This Case to Prevent the Nurses from Obtaining Further Relief for their Missed Rest Breaks.

In light of the above, the Nurses amended their Complaint to add FloAnn Bautista, who cashed her check, as a Plaintiff. CP 97-105.

On August 8, 2011, the Nurses filed their class certification motion. While the motion was pending, WSNA moved to intervene to oppose class certification and block the Nurses from obtaining "further compensation from the Defendant." CP 226-230. The motion to intervene was granted on October 13, 2011, and Plaintiffs re-filed their class certification motion. CP 298-326. In support of their motion, the Nurses submitted over 20 declarations from class member nurses in 14 departments, including the eight largest, all claiming they missed breaks.<sup>10</sup>

Contemporaneously with the Motion for Class Certification, the Nurses filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, asking the trial court to dismiss Evergreen's defense that the "settlement checks" barred the Nurses from participating in this class action. Oral argument on both motions was held on February 3, 2012 in King County Superior Court.

On March 14, 2012, Judge Harry McCarthy granted the Nurses' Motion for Class Certification. CP 1330-1333. On the same day, he granted the Nurses' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment that because

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Nearly 900 of the nearly 1300 class members work or worked in the largest eight departments: CCU, Emergency, Family Maternity Center, MedSurg, Neonatal ICU, Ortho, Spine, and Neurology (OSNO), Home Health, and the Progressive Care Unit (PCU). In opposition to the Motion for Class Certification, Evergreen submitted 12 declarations, nearly all of which were from managers who currently work for Evergreen but are not class members in this case. CP 560-583. Evergreen submitted only one declaration from a class member, and she is a former manager. CP 968-973.

WSNA lacked standing to represent its members and the settlement agreement was not court approved, putative class members who cashed "settlement checks" pursuant to WSNA's settlement were not barred from seeking further compensation in this class action. CP 1334-1345.

Both WSNA and Evergreen sought discretionary review of the trial court's order, which was granted. CP 1346-1366. The Court of Appeals reversed the order granting summary judgment for the Nurses, concluding that WSNA had associational standing to bring a claim for damages on behalf of its individual members and that court approval of Evergreen and WSNA's settlement agreement was not required. Slip Op. at 6.

### IV. ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals decision implicates constitutional issues and issues of substantial public interest that warrant review by this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(4) and RAP 13.4(b)(3).<sup>11</sup> If the Court of Appeals were correct that WSNA had associational standing to sue on behalf of its members for damages, then court approval of the settlement agreement should be required to ensure the Nurses receive due process and that the settlement was fair, adequate, and reasonable and not the product of collusion between the parties.

1. If an Association Can Sue for its Members for Monetary Damages That are Not Easily Ascertained, Court Approval is Necessary.

Under CR 23, class actions are subject to particular safeguards to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> As stated in the accompanying Petition for Review in case No. 68651-8-I, review is also appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1), because the Court of Appeals' decision that WSNA had standing to represent its members in a suit for damages is contrary to this Court's precedent.

ensure that diverse interests of class members are properly represented by the named plaintiffs. For example, in a class action, the court must ascertain whether the representative parties will fairly and adequately protect the entire class. CR 23(a)(4). Where damages are sought, the court must ensure that class members receive court-approved notice and an opportunity to be excluded. CR 23(b)(3). Rule 23 also provides that "[a] class action shall not be dismissed or compromised without the approval of the court, and notice of the proposed dismissal or compromise shall be given to all members of the class in such manner as the court directs." CR 23(e) (emphasis added). Courts closely supervises and approve of the notice of a class action settlement that is sent to absent class members. See also Collins v. Thompson, 679 F.2d 168, 172 (9th Cir. 1982) (the primary concern of CR 23(e) is to ensure that other unrepresented parties and the public interest are treated fairly by the settlement.). This safeguard also ensures that any "settlement is fair, adequate, and reasonable and is not the product of collusion between the parties." *Pigford v. Glickman*, 206 F.3d 1212, 1215 (D.C. Cir. 2000) (emphasis added).

Unlike a CR 23 class action, the rules governing associational standing were created by the courts and rest upon the principle that individuals who have chosen to join together in a group do so to promote a collective interest. As explained in the Nurses' petition in no. 68651, federal and Washington state courts have recognized particular threshold requirements to asserting associational standing: (1) the members of the

organization would otherwise have standing to sue in their own right; (2) the interests that the organization seeks to protect are germane to its purpose; and (3) neither the claim asserted nor relief requested requires the participation of the organization's individual members. *Hunt v. Wash.*State Apple Adver. Comm'n, 432 U.S. 333, 343 97 S. Ct. 2434, 53 L. Ed. 2d. 383 (1977).

Federal courts have consistently refused to allow an organization to represent its members in a suit for monetary damages. *United Union of Roofers v. Ins. Corp. of Am.*, 919 F.2d 1398, 1400 (9th Cir. 1990); *Sanner v. Board of Trade of Chicago*, 62 F.3d 918, 922-923 (7th Cir. 1995); *Bermudez v. Hernandez*, 245 F. Supp. 2d 383, 386 (D.P.R. 2003). This Court recognized a narrow exception to this rule where damages are "easily ascertained" from employee records and do not require individual employee participation to calculate. *International Association of Firefighters, Local 1789 v. Spokane Airports*, 146 Wn.2d 207, 45 P.2d 186 (2002). As explained in the Nurses' other petition, the Court of Appeals turned that narrow exception into a gaping one and its decision should be reversed.

If this Court were to concur with the Court of Appeals and approve of the expanded version of associational standing it articulated, it should require that a court supervise and approve of any settlement in such a case.

The constitutional guarantee of due process of law requires that before a money judgment can be entered and binding on the class, class members must receive adequate representation, court-approved notice, and

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