RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Jan 17, 2014, 3:03 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

No. 89637-2



SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DEBRA PUGH, AARON BOWMAN and FLOANN BAUTISTA on their own behalf and on behalf of all persons similarly situated,

Plaintiffs/Petitioners,

٧.

EVERGREEN HOSPITAL MEDICAL CENTER a/k/a KING COUNTY PUBLIC HOSPITAL DISTRICT #2,

Defendant/Respondent,
WASHINGTON STATE NURSES ASSOCIATION,

Intervenor/Respondent.

Court of Appeals, Division I, No. 68550-3-I

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

John J. White, Jr., WSBA #13682 Kevin B. Hansen, WSBA #28349 Livengood Fitzgerald & Alskog, PLLC 121 Third Avenue P.O. Box 908 Kirkland, WA 98083-0908

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The application of familiar principles governing private resolution of disputes warrants no further review.

Discretionary review is appropriate only where petitioners show that one of the limited bases for further review applies. Here, petitioners have not satisfied any of the prerequisites under RAP 13.4(b). The court of appeals decision is contrary to no decision of this Court or a court of appeals and involves no question under Washington's Constitution or of substantial public importance.

1. There is no dispute that "accord and satisfaction" applies to the RNs' settlements and their individual claims.

The doctrine of accord and satisfaction is part of black letter contract law. *Dodd v. Polack*, 63 Wn.2d 828, 830, 389 P.2d 289 (1964). Each RN who settled potential claims regarding rest breaks entered into an

⁶ If the Court were to reverse the court of appeals' decision as to the individual RN settlements, it should remand to the court of appeals to rule on the District's challenge to class certification.

individual contract with the District. The RNs' capacity to contract is unaffected by petitioners' challenge to WSNA's standing to litigate.

The petition identifies no conflict between the decision below and any decision of this Court or the court of appeals. That is because there are none. Whether RNs received rest breaks was disputed. CP 961, 1028-31, 1035; compare CP 764-65 with CP 922-23. Each settling RN expressly "settle[d] in full all claims [the RN] may have arising out of possible missed breaks." CP 127. Each settling RN also accepted the terms of the settlement between WSNA and the District. *Id.* Further, as part of the settlement, the District undertook to provide uninterrupted ten minute rest periods to each RN as part of their 15-minute rest periods, something not required by Washington law. Meal & Rest Periods for Nonagricultural Workers Age 18 & Over, Wash. Dep't of Labor & Indus. Admin. Policy No. ES.C.6. Each settling RN received the full amount to which he or she was entitled under the settlement.

In *Perez v. Papps*, 98 Wn.2d 835, 843-44, 659 P.2d 475 (1983), this Court summarized its longstanding application of accord and satisfaction:

Simply stated, as applicable here, an accord and satisfaction consists of a bona fide dispute, an agreement to settle that dispute, and performance of that agreement. The new contract

⁷ Mr. Bowman's definition of a rest break differs from that found in *White v. Salvation Army*, 118 Wn. App. 272, 283-84, 75 P.3d 990 (2003), where workers on break were on call but were "allowed to eat, rest, make personal phone calls, [and] attend to personal business that would not take them away from the facility."

must rest upon consideration and such consideration exists when there is a dispute and the agreement compromises the parties' differences. (internal citations omitted)

Even if WSNA did lack standing, its standing is irrelevant to the settlements between individual RNs and the District of individual claims.⁸

RCW 49.52.050 was no bar to resolving the wage disputes out of court. Neither it nor RCW 49.52.070 applies to a bona fide dispute about wages owed. Yates v. State Bd. for Cmty. Coll. Educ., 54 Wn. App. 170, 176, 773 P.2d 89 (1989). The existence of a bona fide dispute regarding whether RNs did or did not receive required breaks is amply demonstrated by the record. The petition should also be denied because on the question of whether other RNs settled for less than might have been recovered through full litigation, the petitioners themselves lack standing. "[A] stranger to a contract may not challenge the contract's validity based on inadequate consideration." Newport Yacht Basin Ass'n v. Supreme Nw., Inc., 168 Wn. App. 56, 80, 277 P.3d 18 (2012). A challenge to the adequacy of consideration is personal to the parties to a contract. Id.

⁸ The petition does not seek review of the particulars of Ms. Bautista's individual accord and satisfaction on any ground other than WSNA's lack of standing to bring its lawsuit and the contention that her settlement should have been approved by a court.

2. Neither "buyer's remorse" nor third-party objections to others' settlements are matters of "substantial public interest" that warrant further review.

While every case is important to the parties, not every case is of "substantial public interest." Binding Ms. Bautista to her settlement of her individual wage claim is a matter of private, but not public import. Similarly, the court of appeals' refusal to set aside the individual settlements entered into by other RNs at the behest of strangers to the agreements is not of "substantial public interest."

Ms. Bautista was always in the best position to know whether and to what extent she did not get rest breaks (uninterrupted or intermittent) during her shifts. Armed both with that knowledge and knowledge of this lawsuit, she agreed to settle her own potential claims with the District. Her settlement affected no other RN's rights. After learning that RNs whom she knew had missed no breaks had also settled their claims, Ms. Bautista suffered buyer's remorse, CP 1043, and now petitions this Court to review

⁹ Even if the general question were of substantial public interest, review here should be denied. In considering whether to review moot decisions on the grounds of "substantial public interest," this Court has refused to exercise that discretion where briefing of the issues below was not thorough, even if the matter might otherwise satisfy the test. Wash. State Comm'l Passenger Fishing Vessel Ass'n v. Tollefson, 87 Wn.2d 417, 419, 553 P.2d 113 (1976) (mootness exception not used though applicable because insues inadequately presented). Petitioners raised new issues on appeal relating to enforceability of the settlements, which were rejected by the court of appeals. Pugh v. Evergreen Hosp. Med. Ctr., 177 Wn. App. 348, 361, 311 P.3d 1253 (2013). Where a petitioner develops its case incompletely, this Court should not exercise discretionary review.

the decision that bound her to her settlement. This is not a matter of substantial public interest that warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). The petition asserts substantial public interest twice (Pet. at 3, 11), but offers no explanation of why Ms. Bautista's buyer's remorse presents any greater issue of public interest than any other settling litigant with buyer's remorse. Her private dissatisfaction does not warrant further review, especially in light of Washington's strong public policy that favors private resolution of disputes. Am. Safety Cas. Ins. Co. v. City of Olympia, 162 Wn.2d 762, 772, 174 P.3d 54 (2007) (rejecting argument because "we would deter future parties from attempting settlement before resorting to use of the courts. Such result would be directly contrary to established public policy . . . "); City of Seattle v. Blume, 134 Wn.2d 243, 258, 947 P.2d 223 (1997). Turning the District's efforts to estimate worst case exposure into grounds to undo settlements of the claims would deter parties from settling just as surely.

Third-party objections to settlements are of even less public interest than an individual litigant's buyer's remorse. Petitioners cite no authority that third party objections to a settlement provide a basis for court review of others' settlements at all, much less a question of "substantial public interest." Non-settling parties' rights are generally unaffected by others' settlements. Seafirst Ctr. Ltd. P'ship v. Erickson, 127 Wn.2d 355, 368-69,

898 P.2d 299 (1995) (former partners' settlement with bank on lease dispute did not affect non-settling partner's right to seek contribution from partners). Non-settling RN's rights were expressly unaffected by the agreement that each individual RN entered into with the District when settling his or her potential rest break claims. CP 127-28.

Petitioners are mistaken that a public interest in protecting absent putative class members is implicated here. Individual settlements by putative class members are permissible without court oversight or approval. See, e.g., Christensen v. Kiewit-Murdock Inv. Corp., 815 F.2d 206, 213 (2nd Cir. 1987); Weight Watchers of Phil. v. Weight Watchers Int'l, 455 F.2d 770, 773, 775 (2nd Cir. 1972); In re M.L. Stern Overtime Litig., 250 F.R.D. 492, 500 (S.D. Cal. 2008); The Kay Co. v. Equitable Prod. Co., 246 F.R.D. 260, 262-63 (S.D. W. Va. 2007); EEOC v. McDonnell Douglas Corp., 948 F. Supp. 54, 55 (E.D. Mo. 1996); Nesenoff v. Muten, 67 F.R.D. 500, 503 n.4 (E.D.N.Y. 1974); Jankousky v. Jewel Co., 538 N.E.2d 689, 767 (Ill. App. 1989); Debra Lyn Bassett, Precertification Communication Ethics in Class Actions, 36 GA. L. REV. 353, 356 (2002).

The primary case they rely on, *Diaz v. Trust Territory of the Pac.*Islands, 876 F.2d 1401 (9th Cir. 1989), deals not with individual settlements by putative class members, but with pre-certification dismissal

of claims by class representatives without notice. The court observed that notice to the putative class of pre-certification dismissal is not always required, *id.* at 1408, but was under the circumstances of that case, where the limitations period had nearly expired and putative class members had a subsistence economy and were "separated from each other by hundreds or thousands of miles of ocean." *Id.* at 1411. The settling RNs here were not left out, but opted to settle their rest break claims on their own.

The District clearly informed the putative class members of the existence of this lawsuit and that cashing the checks would exclude them from it. Petitioners and their counsel sent the same message. Because neither the WSNA Settlement Agreement nor the individual settlements had any preclusive effect on non-settling RNs, the substantial public interest requirement of RAP 13.4(b)(4) is not met.

B. Declining further review of a third-party challenge to their settlements raises no due process issues for the settling RNs, but accepting review would.

Individual RNs settled only their own claims through the accord and satisfaction. Petitioners' invocation of "due process" as grounds for discretionary review is wholly misplaced. It is petitioners who seek to dispose of the legal rights of absent parties by invalidating other RNs' settlements. The settling RNs obtained final resolution of their potential claims. Petitioners seek to re-open those claims, with full knowledge that

at least some of the RNs who settled did not miss breaks and would receive nothing if their claims now had to be litigated. Ms Bautista admitted that her anger over settlement payments received by undeserving RNs motivated her to seek to set the agreements aside. CP 1043.

Petitioners assert that due process issues are presented by the individual RNs' entry into settlements with the District. Constitutional due process requires that before a final adjudication is entered, those whose rights or claims are resolved must be given notice and an opportunity to be heard. *Phillips Petroleum Co. v. Shutts*, 472 U.S. 797, 811-12, 105 S. Ct. 2965, 86 L. Ed. 2d 628 (1985). Here, only the individual claims of settling RNs were resolved by their agreements. This is exactly the private dispute resolution Washington supports.

In contrast, Ms. Pugh and Mr. Bowman did not settle, and remain free to bring their individual claims. Ms. Bautista settled. None of the petitioners are party to, or have their rights or claims resolved by any other RNs' settlements. They are strangers to those contracts, yet ask the Court to invalidate them without the participation of the RNs who were parties.

No due process issues are raised by the court of appeals decision upholding the individual settlement of Ms. Bautista or the settlements of the other RNs. The same cannot be said of petitioners' efforts to invalidate contracts to which they are not parties.

C. The court of appeal's conclusion that WSNA had standing is squarely supported by this Court's decisions, and no court approval is required for RN settlements that affected only the rights of the parties to the settlement.

A union has standing to seek injunctive or other equitable relief on behalf of its members under its own name. *Int'l Ass'n of Firefighters*, 146 Wn.2d at 213-14. Petitioners conceded below that WSNA had standing to seek injunctive relief. Resp'ts Br. at 32, n.20. If WSNA had standing to file its lawsuit, then it had standing to settle its lawsuit. WSNA settled only its claims. Individual RNs later settled theirs. CP 127. Upholding these settlements was fully consistent with Washington's strong policy favoring private resolution of disputes. *Del Rosario v. Del Rosario*, 152 Wn.2d 375, 382, 97 P.3d 11 (2004). "Public policy strongly favors resolving disputes by extrajudicial means." *Yates*, 54 Wn. App. at 176.

Petitioners' examples all involve settlements that affected the ability of others to vindicate their individual rights. Pet. at 12. The very descriptors used – "absent" and "other" – demonstrate the purpose of court approval is to protect those who do not otherwise have a say in resolving their own claims. Court approval of settlements by "class representatives" is important because class representatives' settlements dispose of not only their claim, but all others they purport to represent. Court approval is to prevent class representatives from colluding to the disadvantage of absent

members, not prevent individuals from settling their own claims. *Radcliffe* v. Experian Info. Solutions, 715 F.3d 1157, 1165 (9th Cir. 2013).

In contrast here, every settling RN was able to make an individual decision and resolved only his or her own potential claims, as was their right, consistent with Washington's strong public policy. No court approval was necessary, nor is further review.¹⁰

V. CONCLUSION

The petition for discretionary review fails to meet any of the limited grounds for further review and should be denied.